FILED 4-21-15

# Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

In re the Paternity of: M.H.

STEPHANIE BELL,

Respondent,

and

JUAN SIDRAN HEFLIN,

Appellant.

NO. **72527-1-I** 

(Trial Ct # 10-3-06637-7 KNT King County Superior Court)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Helmut Kah, Attorney at Law WSBA No. 18541 16818 140<sup>th</sup> Ave NE Woodinville, WA 98072-9001

Phone: 425-949-8357 Fax: 425-949-4679 Cell: 206-234-7798

helmutkahlaw@outlook.com

#

# I. INTRODUCTION

Stephanie commenced proceedings in this case for the registration, determination of arrears, and collection of an Indiana Order of Child Support, by filing a CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT

TANSMITTAL #1 – INITIAL REQUEST (sic) in King County Superior

Court on September 9, 2010, under cause number 10-3-06637-7 KNT.

(CP 1 – 4). She separately filed a stand-alone copy of the underlying

Indiana ORDER of child support under the same case number. (CP 5)

Juan contested registration of the Indiana Order.

The parties' child M.H. was born on May 13, 1985. (CP 2 at section VI. Dependent Children; CP 4)

M.H.'s 18<sup>th</sup> birthday was on May 13, 2003. The child's 21<sup>st</sup> birthday was May 13, 2006.

M.H.'s 28<sup>th</sup> birthday was May 13, 2013. This date is significant in this matter because under Washington law then remedies for enforcement and collection of child support arrears expire after the 10<sup>th</sup> year following

the youngest child's  $18^{th}$  birthday. RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2).

# Order Entered March 23, 1994, in the state of Indiana:

The underlying child support obligation in this case arises from an Order of Child Support entered March 23, 1994 in Vigo Circuit Court, Juvenile Division, State of Indiana. (CP 1-5), which provides, among other things, that:

"the respondent is the father of [M.H.] born May 13, 1985 in Swedish Hospital, Seattle. Washington \* \* \* to the petitioner and respondent herein."

It further provides that Juan shall

"pay into the office of the Clerk of this Court the sum of \$77.00 a week, each and every week for the support of the minor child, commencing on April 1, 1994 and each and every week thereafter until further Order of the Court. The Court finds that 7 weeks have elapsed since the filing date of the petition herein and therefore makes a back support order in the amount of \$539.00 which should be paid into the Office of the Clerk by the respondent within the next 12 months. \* \* \* \*."

(CP 4)

In Stephanie's proceedings for registration, determination of arrears, and enforcement in Washington of the Indiana order, the trial court entered four orders in 2010/2011, three on the merits and the fourth for attorney fees and costs. The order at issue on this appeal is the fifth order, a Wage Withholding Order entered August 28, 2014. (CP 72-75)

# **First Order Entered in Washington:**

The first order entered October 28, 2010, is titled ORDER ON RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF CHILD SUPPORT ORDER, REQUEST FOR HEARING AND REQUEST TO DISMISS WITH PREJUDICE. (CP 6 – 7) and states in relevant part that:

"This reserves the issue as to the amount of the obligation.

"NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY,

"ORDERED: \* \* \* In accordance with RCW 26.21A.530(3), the Order of Support issued by the Indiana Court is hereby confirmed by this Court. Mother is Awarded \$1,500.00 in Attorneys Fees. The issue of additional petitioner's costs and attorneys' fees is reserved for determination by this Court at a later date.

"\*\*\*\*

"Without credit, as may be determined by this court at a later date, the Court finds \$37,191 in support was to be paid until the child's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday."

(CP 6 - 7)

### **Second Order Entered in Washington:**

The second order was entered December 22, 2010, titled ORDER ON MOTION FOR REVISION (CP 10-11). It states that Juan's obligation under the Indiana order continued until M.H.'s  $21^{st}$  birthday, May 13, 2006. This revision order makes no determination of the amount of support that was to be paid, the payments made, other credits allowed, or other charges, during that period, or the final balance owed, if any:

"The Order of this Court entered on October 28, 2010 is hereby revised to include the requirement that the respondent is obligated to pay child support including that period of time defined as the child's 18<sup>th</sup> to 21<sup>st</sup> birthday. Any other issues including visitation credits, attorneys' fees and credits for child support payments are currently pending before this court and are not part of this Order on motion for revision."

(CP 10 - 11)

## **Third Order Entered in Washington:**

The third order was entered on February 24, 2011, titled ORDER CONFIRMING AMOUNT OF SUPPORT OBLIGATION. (CP 12 – 13) It states without explanation or findings that the Indiana Order of Support is confirmed in the sum of \$110,709.23:

# "NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY:

"ORDERED: the Indiana Order of Support, in the sum of \$110,709.23\*, is hereby confirmed as registered by this Court pursuant to this Court's Order of October 28, 2010 and RCW 26.21A.500. et. Seq. per the laws of Indiana, the obligation shall bear interest at the rate of 18% interest per annum. \* \* \*"

\*Credit is given to the father for wire transfers of \$1,300 and \$1,350 plus interest of \$2,350 (59 months at 1.5% per year. This reduces his total obligation to \$110,709.23 which includes interest.." (sic)

This order fails to state the date of the earliest unpaid child support installment. It does not reveal how much of the \$110,790.23 figure represents principal, prejudgment interest, or other charges. It contains no findings regarding the total child support payable to M.H.'s 21<sup>st</sup> birthday or any detail or totals regarding the credits and payments used to arrive at

that figure. It is impossible to discern how much of that figure is *principal* and how much is *prejudgment interest*. This point is important because, as shown below, interest accrues only on principal. It is simple interest, not compound, and interest does not accrue on previously accrued interest, though Stephanie's counsel has assiduously charged Juan interest at 18% per annum / 1.5% per month on both the interest and principal components of the \$110,709.23 figure! (CP 24 1. 24 – 27) (CP 26: Stephanie's June 16, 2014 spreadsheet) Based on the record, it appears that the \$110,709.23 figure includes roughly \$70,000 or more in prejudgment interest.

### **Fourth Order Entered in Washington:**

The fourth order entered April 11, 2011 awards Stephanie \$12,500 attorney fees and \$306.64 costs at 12% interest per annum. (CP 14 - 16)

### The August 28, 2014, Wage Withholding Order:

This appeal arises from the trial court's entry of a WAGE WITHHOLDING ORDER on August 28, 2014, which contains the following findings/conclusions:

"The court finds that as a matter of law, the Indiana Order of Child-Support is not subject to the same limitations of the Washington Order of Child Support and that the Indiana Order of Child Support is fully enforceable in Washington. Furthermore, the court finds that the Juan Heflin is more than (15) days late and the payment of his child support obligation in the principal sum of \$117,290.92 as of

April 1, 2013 with interest thereon at the daily rate of \$57.84 from April 1, 2013."

Juan has paid in excess of \$70,000 through cashier's checks and wage withholding since entry of the February 2011 order. Yet Stephanie only credits Juan for payments of \$27,300. (CP 26) Juan is in the process of preparing a motion for an accounting, stay of collection and terms.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in issuing the Wage Withholding Order on August 28, 2014 (CP 72, lines 21 24)
- The trial court erred in "finding" that "[A]s a matter of law, the Indiana Order of Child Support is not subject to the same limitations as a Washington Order of Child Support". (CP 72 lines 21 – 24)
- The trial court erred in "finding" that "[A]s a matter of law,\* \*
   \* the Indiana Order of Child Support is fully enforceable in Washington" after the 10 years from the child's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday.
   (CP 72, lines 21 24)
- 4. The trial court erred in stating that Juan has a child support arrears debt in the *principal* sum of \$117,290.92 as of April 1, 2013, where that figure represents a sum that includes both *principal* and *prejudgment interest*. (CP 72 line 25)

# III. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Whether the Indiana Order of Child Support registered in Washington under RCW 26.21A.500 et. seq. can be enforced

- in Washington more than ten years after the child's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday.
- 2. Whether the statement in the trial court's order that Juan owes a child support obligation in the *principal* sum of \$117,290.92 is supported by the record.
- 3. Whether the statement in the trial court's order that interest accrues at the daily rate of \$57.84 from April 1, 2013, is erroneous in that this daily rate represents interest at 18% per annum on \$117,290.92 which includes not only principal but prejudgment interest and, thus, constitutes charging interest on interest.

### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal involves the question whether RCW 4.56.210(2) bars enforcement of an Indiana Order of Child Support that was registered for determination of arrears and enforcement under the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act, Chapter 26.21A RCW [2002 c 198 § 101] (UIFSA) after the 10th year following the youngest child's 18th birthday. This appears to be an issue of first impression in Washington. Appellant has found no Washington case law addressing this discrete question.

Issues of law are reviewed de novo. *Clayton v. Grange Ins. Ass'n*, 74 Wash.App. 875, 877, 875 P.2d 1246 (1994).

Statutory construction is a question of law and is reviewed de

novo. *Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevu*e, 161 Wn. 3563, 358, 166 P.3d 667 (2007).

# V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# **Stephanie's August 2014 Motion for Wage Withholding Order:**

On August 8, 2014, Stephanie filed a MOTION FOR WAGE WITHHOLDING ORDER (CP 17 – 22) together with a DECLARATION OF STEPHANIE A. BELL IN SUPPORT OF WAGE WITHHOLDING ORDER (CP 23 – 30) and a NOTICE OF COURT DATE scheduling a hearing date of August 28, 2014 (CP 31 – 32). Stephanie's cites and discusses RCW 4.56.210 which provides:

- "(1) Except as provided in subsections (2) and (3) of this section, after the expiration of ten years from the date of the entry of any judgment theretofore or hereafter rendered in this state, it shall cease to be a lien or charge against the estate or person of the judgment debtor. No suit, action or other proceeding shall ever be had on any judgment rendered in this state by which the lien shall be extended or continued in force for any greater or longer period than ten years."
- "(2) An underlying judgment or judgment lien entered after the effective date of this act for accrued child support shall continue in force for ten years after the eighteenth birthday of the youngest child named in the order for whom support is ordered. \* \* \* ."

Stephanie's motion also cites RCW 26.21A.515 which provides as follows regarding Choice of law:

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (4) of this section, **the law of the issuing state governs**:
  - (a) The nature, extent, amount, and **duration** of current payments under a registered support order;
  - (b) The computation and payment of arrearages and accrual of interest on the arrearages under the registered support order; and
  - (c) The existence and satisfaction of other obligations under the registered support order.
  - (2) In a proceeding for arrears under a registered support order, the statute of limitation of this state or of the issuing state, whichever is longer, applies.
  - (3) A responding tribunal of this state shall apply the procedures and remedies of this state to enforce current support and collect arrears and interest due on a support order of another state registered in this state.
  - (4) After a tribunal of this or another state determines which is the controlling order and issues an order consolidating arrears, if any, a tribunal of this state shall prospectively apply the law of the state issuing the registered controlling order, including its law on interest on arrears, on current and future support, and on consolidated arrears.

[Bold emphasis in original at CP 21]

### Juan's Response:

On August 22, 2014, Juan filed a MEMORANDUM OF LAW AND RESPONSE TO MOTION FOR WAGE WITHHOLDING ORDER (CP 33 – 35) and declaration of JUAN SIDRAN HEFLIN (CP 36 - 42).

Juan's response explains that pursuant to RCW 4.56.210(2) jurisdiction to enforce the child support arrearage expired 10 years after M.H.'s 18<sup>th</sup> birthday. RCW 4.56.210 is not a statute of limitations. It terminates the power to enforce the expired judgment. The case law construing RCW 4.56.210 makes this perfectly clear. This statute establishes the duration of the lien and the time of its expiration. The time limit is jurisdictional. There can be no enforcement or collection action taken after the judgment has terminated per this statute. Juan cited *Hazel v. VanBeek*, 135 Wn.2d 45, 954 P.2d 1301 (1998); *Grub v Fogle's Garage*, 5 Wn.App. 840, 491 P.2d 258 (1971) in support of his position.

# **Stephanie's Reply:**

On August 25, 2014, Stephanie filed a REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR ORDER FOR WAGE WITHHOLDING (CP 43 – 47). In this document Stephanie argues

"\* \* \* RCW 26.21A.515 provides in pertinent part:

### "RCW 26.21A.515 Choice of Law.

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (4) of this section, **the law of the issuing state governs:** 
  - (a) The nature, extent, amount, and <u>duration</u> of current payments under a registered order.

[Bold emphasis in original]

(CP 44 lines 4 - 16)

and reiterates her argument that RCW 4.56.210 is a statute of limitations, stating:

"The limitations imposed by RCW 4.56.210 do not relate to foreign judgments or foreign child support Orders. RCW 4.18.020(1) provides in pertinent part:

# **Conflict of laws – Limitation periods:**

- (1) Except as provided by RCW 4.18.040, if a claim substantively based (sic):
  - (a) Upon the law of other state, <u>the limitation period</u> of <u>that state</u> applies: or . . .

[Emphasis in original]

(CP 45 lines 8 - 16)

Under Indiana law there is no issue regarding the duration of current support in this case. Current support terminated no later than Stephanie's 21<sup>st</sup> birthday, May 13, 2006, and sooner if M.H. was earlier emancipated.

# **Juan's Supplemental Memorandum of Law:**

On August 26, 2014, Juan filed a SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM OF LAW (CP 48 – 58) with a more thorough explanation of the applicable statutory and case law of both Washington and the state of Indiana.

# **Stephanie's Objection and Reply:**

On August 27, 2014, Stephanie filed an OBJECTION TO AND REPLY TO SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM OF RESPONDENT

(CP 59 -63). She objected to consideration of Juan's supplemental memorandum as untimely and asserts that it "also raises new issues i.e. the statute of limitations." (CP 59, lines 21 - 26) However, both the statute of limitations and the RCW 4.56.210 issues were discussed and argued by Stephanie in her original motion for wage withholding order. (CP 17 – 22 at CP 20 - 21)

In her OBJECTION AND REPLY Stephanie also argues for the first time that the Indiana statute of limitations for judgments is twenty years, citing but not quoting, Indiana Code 34-11-2-12. (CP 61, lines 16 – 21). In addition, she erroneously asserts that because Juan was never a resident of Indiana, the statute of limitations is forever tolled as to any claims she has against him. (CP 61 1. 21 to CP 62 1. 3)

# **The Hearing and Order Entered on August 28, 2014:**

A hearing was held in King County Superior Court on August 28, 2014. No testimony or evidence was presented at the hearing. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Superior Court Commissioner entered the Wage Withholding Order with the "findings" to which Juan objects, i.e.:

"The court finds that as a matter of law, the Indiana Order of Child-Support is not subject to the same limitations of the Washington Order of Child Support and that the Indiana order of child support is fully enforceable in Washington. Furthermore, the court finds that the Juan Heflin is more than (15) days late and the payment of his child support

obligation in the principal sum of \$117,290.92 as of April 1, 2013 with interest thereon at the daily rate of \$57.84 from April 1, 2013."
[CP 66 – 69 at CP 66, line 21 to CP 67, line 1]

### VI. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

(Argument applicable to all assignments of error)

Stephanie argues that Juan is asserting a statute of limitations defense, whereas, to the contrary, Juan is asserting the defense that the court's authority and jurisdiction to enforce the Indiana Order of Child Support expired on May 13, 2013, which is the first day following the end of the 10<sup>th</sup> year after the child M.H's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday and is, therefore, barred pursuant to RCW 4.56.210(2).

Stephanie confuses the issue as one involving a statute of limitations, while Juan's defense is that the remedies for enforcement expired after the 10<sup>th</sup> year following the child's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday. Even if it was a statute of limitations issue, the limitations period under both Indiana law and Washington law expired on May 13, 2013.

# **Indiana's Statute of Limitations on Child Support**:

Indiana's statute of limitations on child support is the same as Washington's:

Indiana Statues
Title 34. Civil Law and Procedure
Article 11. Limitation of Actions

# Chapter 2: Specific Statutes of Limitation

§ 34-11-2-10. Enforcement of Child Support Obligations:

An action to enforce a child support obligation must be commenced within not later than ten (10) years after:

- (1) the eighteenth birthday of the child; or
- (2) the emancipation of the child;

whichever occurs first

## Washington's Statute of Limitations on Child Support:

Washington's statute of limitations on child support provides:

RCW 4.16.020 Actions to be commenced within ten years — Exception.

The period prescribed for the commencement of actions shall be as follows:

Within ten years:

(3) Of the eighteenth birthday of the youngest child named in the order for whom support is ordered for an action to collect past due child support that has accrued under an order entered after July 23, 1989, by any of the above-named courts or that has accrued under an administrative order as defined in RCW 74.20A.020(6), which is issued after July 23, 1989.

# <u>Uniform Interstate Family Support Act (UIFSA)</u> Regarding Choice of Law re Statute of Limitations:

As shown above, Washington and Indiana have identical statutes of limitation for enforcement of child support obligations, i.e. not later than 10 years after the youngest child's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday. Both Indiana's and

Washington's limitation periods expired on May 13, 2013, and all remedies for enforcement and collection in Washington expired that day pursuant to RCW 4.56.210(1)&(2).

The UIFSA, RCW 26.21A.515(2), provides that:

In a proceeding for arrears under a registered order, the statute of limitations of this state or of the issuing state, whichever is longer, applies.

Because both Washington and Indiana have statutes of limitation of equal duration, this result does not offend the UIFSA.

# <u>Juan's Assertion of the Enforcement Bar Under</u> RCW 4.56.201(2) is not precluded by the UIFSA:

RCW 26.21A.535 re "Confirmed Order" provides that:

Confirmation of a registered order, whether by operation of law or after notice of hearing, precludes further contest of the order with respect to any matter that could have been asserted at the time of registration.

The UIFSA does not preclude Juan from asserting the bar of RCW 4.56.210(2) for enforcement of the expired child support obligation. Juan could not have asserted a statute of limitations defense other than latches, or an expiration of judgment bar when the Indiana Child Support Order was registered in Washington in September 2010. The statute of limitations had not run. The enforcement bar date had not yet arrived. Only seven, not ten, years had passed since M.H.'s 18<sup>th</sup> birthday. The

obligation was not yet barred by RCW 4.56.210(2) because the 10<sup>th</sup> year after the child's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday ended at midnight on May 12, 2013.

# The Judgment for Arrears Expired and Became Unenforceable on May 13, 2013:

RCW 6.17.020(2) establishes and limits the remedy for enforcement of child support obligations to a period ending 10 years after the 10<sup>th</sup> birthday of the youngest child named in the order of child support:

"After July 23, 1989, a party who obtains a judgment or order of a court or an administrative order entered as defined in RCW 74.20A.020(6) for accrued child support, or the assignee or the current holder thereof, may have an execution, garnishment, or other legal process issued upon that judgment or order at any time within ten years of the eighteenth birthday of the youngest child named in the order for whom support is ordered."

RCW 4.56.210(1)&(2) establishes that the remedy terminates, expires, and is available for no longer than 10 years after the 18<sup>th</sup> birthday of the youngest child named in the Order of Child Support:

#### RCW 4.56.210(1)

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