NO. 72527-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

In Re: the Paternity of: Miluan Heflin,

STEPHANIE BELL

Respondent

and

JUAN SIDRAN HEFLIN

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Bruce O. Danielson, Esq.
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #14018
1001 4th Avenue, Suite 3200
Seattle, WA 98154
Tel: 206-652-4550
bruce@brucedanielsonlaw.com

FILE & 15.

I. INTRODUCTION.

In 2010 the Respondent, Stephanie Bell, filed for enforcement only in the King County Superior Court, an Indiana Order of Child Support. The Appellant, Juan Heflin, is the obligor. On August 28, 2014, the Superior Court issued a Wage Withholding Order. Juan Heflin, objected to the Motion for Wage Withholding claiming that pursuant to RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2) the enforcement of the Indiana Order of child support has a limit of ten years in Washington regardless of any other laws or statutes.

It should be noted that the Index to Clerk's Papers do not necessarily correspond to the documents referenced in the Appellant's Brief. Preparing this Response, Stephanie Bell relies upon the Index to Clerk's Papers.

II. ISSUES.

A. If RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17. 020(2) deprive Washington Courts of the authority to enforce a valid and fully enforceable Indiana Order of Child Support?

B. May the Appellant, Juan Heflin, raise and argue claims and issues previously decided by the Superior Court or claims or issues not raised and argued in the lower Court?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This appeal involves the registration and enforcement of an Indiana Order of Child Support in Washington. The parties,
Stephanie Bell and Juan Sidran Heflin had one child, Miluan Heflin who was born on May 13, 1985. (For convenience the names of the parties will generally be used in lieu of their designation as either Appellant or Respondent.)

In 1994, Stephanie Bell resided in Indiana. She commenced an action to establish paternity and for an order for child support in the Vigo Circuit Court of Indiana, Cause No. 9402 JP 106. On March 23, 1994, the Vigo Circuit Court entered an Order of paternity and ordered Juan Heflin to make child support payments. (CP 5)

Juan Heflin failed to make all of his Indiana court ordered child support payments. In September of 2010, Stephanie Bell filed in the King County Superior Court, for enforcement only, a petition to enforce the child support obligation. Juan Heflin objected to the registration of the Indiana Order in Washington and the amount of

the claimed obligation. In the original proceeding in Washington,
Juan Heflin limited his defense to registration of the Indiana Order
of support claiming payment in full of his support obligation.

Through a series of vigorously contested motions, the sum of obligation of Juan Heflin for past due child support, interest and costs was entered by the King County Superior Court on February 23, 2011. (CP 12-13; Subject No. 43.)

Numerous attempts, both by agreement and by motion, were made to secure the cooperation of Juan Heflin in making his child support payments. Juan Heflin went so far as to attempt to discharge his child support obligation in bankruptcy. In December of 2011 Juan Heflin, with the advice of counsel, entered into Settlement promising to pay his past due child support obligation. (CP 23-30) In the Settlement Agreement, Juan Heflin specifically acknowledged his obligation to Stephanie Bell in the sum of \$128,054.36 as of October 25, 2011. (CP 23-3)

Juan Heflin defaulted in his promised payments per the Settlement Agreement. In August of 2014, Stephanie Bell filed a Motion for Wage Withholding Order (CP 17-22; Subject No. 60.) and her supporting declaration with accounting. (CP 23-31; Subject No. 61).

In response to the Motion for Wage Withholding, Juan Heflin filed a Memorandum of Law in Response to Motion for wage Withholding Order (CP 33-35; Subject No. 63) and the Declaration of Juan Sidran Heflin (CP 36-42; Subject No. 64.).

The only issues raised by Juan Heflin in opposition to the Motion for Wage Withholding were that the Court lacks jurisdiction to issue a wage withholding in that jurisdiction to enforce the Indiana Order of Child Support expired ten years after the child's 18th birthday and the judgment is therefore unenforceable per RCW 4.56.210 and RCW 6.17.020(2).

On August 28, 2014, the King County Superior Court entered an Order for Wage Withholding, which Order is the subject of this appeal. (CP 66-69)

IV. LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. Generalized Identity of Legal Issues and Legal Issue Background.

In the lower Court and in response to the Motion of the Respondent for Wage Withholding Order, Juan Heflin confined his objection to a very narrow legal theory that: RCW 4.56.010(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2) creates an absolute bar to the enforcement of

the Indiana Order of Child Support in Washington ten years after the child's 18th birthday. Juan Heflin claims an action was not started within ten years of the child's 18th birthday and that the Indiana child support order may only be enforced for ten years per Washington law. (Stephanie Bell is confused by Juan Heflin's arguments. Juan Heflin argues Stephanie Bell failed to commence an action for past due child support within the statutorily prescribed ten years of the child's 18th birthday. This ignores both the 1994 action in Indiana and the 2010 action in Washington to enforce the 1994 Indiana order of child support. In his next argument, Juan Heflin claims that the judgment, which is an action for past due child support, is time barred. It is undisputed that an action was commenced within ten years of the child's 18th birthday. Per the Order, CP 5, the action was commenced in Indiana when the child was nine (9) years old.)

The only legal issues that may properly be appealed are limited to the arguments in the lower court by Juan Heflin that RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2) bars the enforcement of the Indiana Order of Child Support. (See Heflin Memorandum of Law and Response to Motion for Wage Withholding Order, CP 33-35; and Declaration of Juan Sidran Heflin, CP 36-42)

In the King Superior Court, Juan Heflin filed an untimely Supplemental Memorandum of Law raising issues of the statute of limitations in defense to the Motion for Wage Withholding. (CP 48-58). The Superior Court did not consider the late submission of the Supplemental Memorandum of Law filed by Juan Heflin. (Verbatim Report of Proceeding, page 4, li 11-15) Juan Heflin did not contest the amount of the obligation as claimed in the Motion for Wage Withholding and the Court properly treated the issue as unopposed. (Verbatim Report of Proceedings, page 19, line 21 to page 20, line 12.) Juan Heflin has filed this appeal raising issues from the Supplemental Memorandum of Law and new issues not heard by the trial court or issues previously ruled upon by the Superior Court.

B. RCW 4.56.210(2) and RCW 6.17.020(2) Do Not Deprive the Washington Courts of the Jurisdiction or Authority to Enforce a Valid Indiana Order of Child Support.

Juan Heflin's legal argument is, regardless of the ongoing validity of an Indiana Order for child support, Washington limits all foreign child support orders to ten (10) years. Juan Heflin does not cite any relevant authority for this argument because no such authority exists and it would clearly defy the laws of Washington.

Juan Heflin cites a large number of Washington cases, involving

only Washington claims of various types, to somehow support this argument that any judgment is only enforceable for ten years in Washington. RCW Title 4, *Civil Procedure*, relied upon by Juan Heflin, gives deference to the law of the issuing state for purposes of the limitation of any action in Washington.

RCW 4.18.020(1) provides in pertinent part:

Conflict of laws—Limitation periods:

- (1) Except as provided by RCW 4.18.040, if a claim substantively based:
- (a) Upon the law of other state, the limitation period of that state applies: (Emphasis added.)

To apply RCW 4.56.210 as argued by Juan Heflin would directly contradict the substantive provisions of RCW 4.18.020, RCW 26.21A.515 (Discussed below) and would result in a ruling that valid foreign child support orders are not enforceable in Washington after ten (10) years. This is not the statutory or case law of Washington.

Likewise, applying the Washington limitations of action pursuant to RCW 6.17.020 to foreign judgment or child support order would make any sister state Order or judgment no different than a Washington Order of Child Support. In the case of *TCAP Corp. v. Gervin*, 163 Wn2d 645 (2008) the Washington Supreme

Court ruled on the issue of the duration of a judgment for collection in Washington: "We hold a registered foreign judgment in Washington expires, and therefore becomes unenforceable, under RCW 6.17.020(7) when the underlying foreign judgment expires." *TCAP Corp.*, supra, at 647. As set forth below, the underlying Indiana Order for child support has not expired and is fully enforceable.

C. The Judgment for Child Support is Fully Enforceable for No Less than Twenty (20) years.

Any discussion of the time limits enforce an out of state child support Order in Washington begins with RCW 26.21A.500, et. seq.

Washington adopted the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act (UIFSA) which act is codified under RCW 26.21A. A good background of the UIFSA is set forth in the Washington Supreme Court opinion, *In re Schneider*, 173 Wn.2d 353, 355, 268 P.3d 215 (Wash. 2011) Per *Schneider*, supra, at 358-359:

The UIFSA was developed in response to federal legislation impacting state child support enforcement laws. Kurtis A. Kemper, Annotation, *Construction* [268 P.3d 218] and Application of Uniform Interstate Family Support Act, 90 A.L.R. 5th 2, at 31 (2001). Prior to the development of the UIFSA, when parties in a child support action lived in different states, each state could issue its own child support orders. *Id.* This potential for competing child support orders, with varying terms and duration depending on the issuing jurisdiction, resulted in a proliferation of litigation. Unif.

Interstate Family Support Act (2008) 611, 9 pt. 1B U.L.A. cmt. at 139 (Supp.2011). The UIFSA addressed this "chaos" by establishing a "one-order" system for child support orders by providing that one state would have continuing exclusive jurisdiction over the order. *Id.* at 139-40. The UIFSA enforces the one-order system in a variety of ways, including registration of out-of-state child support orders for either enforcement, modification, or both. *In re Schneider*, 173 Wn.2d 353, 358-359, 268 P.3d 215 (Wash. 2011)

"The UIFSA provides that the duration of child support is governed by the laws of the original forum state." *In re Schneider*, 173 Wn.2d 353, 355, 268 P.3d 215 (Wash. 2011). RCW 26.21A.515 provides in pertinent part:

RCW 26.21A.515 Choice of law.

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (4) of this section, **the law of the issuing state governs:**
- (a) The nature, extent, amount, and <u>duration</u> of current payments under a registered support order; (Emphasis added.)

The adoption of RCW 26.21A. represents a statutory codification of the United States Constitution Full Faith and Credit Clause. Article IV, Section 1 of the *United States Constitution* provides in pertinent part:

Full faith and credit shall be given in each state to the public acts, records, and judicial proceedings of every other state. And the Congress may by general laws prescribe the manner in which such acts, records, and proceedings shall be proved, and the effect thereof.

Juan Heflin is attempting to re-ignite the long dead litigation tactic of competing claims concerning the duration of a foreign order of child support. The argument of Juan Heflin against Washington's enforcement of the Indiana Order of Child Support hinges on whether the Court ignores RCW 26.21A.500 et. seq. and if Indiana law bars the enforcement of the Indiana order of child support ten years after the child's 18th birthday.

Directly relevant to this appeal is the decision in the Indiana Court of Appeals case of *Estate of Wilson v. Steward*, 937 N.E. 2d 826 (Ind. Ct. App. 2010). Steward addressed both the commencement of an action and the statute of limitations in Indiana for collection and enforcement of a child support judgment.

In *Steward*, supra, the ex-wife filed a claim against the estate of the late husband for unpaid child support. The claim was based upon a 1989 judgment against the father/obligor. The trial court awarded the mother damages and the father's estate appealed. Almost identical to the legal challenge by Juan Heflin, in *Steward*, supra, the father contented that an action for unpaid child support was not commenced within ten years of the child's 18th birthday as required by Indiana Code (IC) 34-11-2-10.

Steward, supra, Court of Appeals determined that the action against the father for support was commenced well within the statutory limits of IC 34-11-2-10. The fact that a claim against the estate was filed after ten years was irrelevant because the underlying action was commenced against the father within the statutory time period.

In this case, the action for child support was commenced in 1994 when the child was eight years old. (CP 5)

Having determined that IC 34-11-2-10 does not apply, the Court of Appeals in Steward addressed the claim that the mother's action to enforce the judgment is barred under the Indiana statute of limitations, IC 34-11-2-12. IC 34-11-2-12 provides:

Every judgment and decree of any court of record of the United States, of Indiana, or of any other state shall be considered satisfied after the expiration of twenty (20) years.

The mother's judgment in Steward was entered on July 25, 1989. The mother filed a claim against the estate of her late husband on September 10, 2009, or more than twenty years after the entry of the judgment. The Indiana Court of Appeals held that the mother's judgment claim was not time barred. In arriving at this conclusion, the Steward opinion noted that "[T]he unique

phraseology of Indiana Code Section 34-11-2-12 sets it apart from all other statutes of limitation listed in Indiana Code Chapter 34-11-2." *Steward*, supra, at 829.

Per *Steward*, supra, at 830 "[A] judgment that is less than twenty years old constitutes prima facie proof of a valid and subsisting claim, whereas a judgment that is over twenty years old stands discredited, with the lapse of time constitutes prima facie proof of payment." (Citations omitted.) Per *Steward*, supra, the presumption of payment may be overcome and the obligated must plead and prove payment to avail the obligor of the presumption of payment. The Court went on to quote, with approval, *Odell V. Green*, 72 Ind. App. 65, 77, 122 N.E. 791 (1919) that: "[N]othing in our statues indicate[s] an intention to utterly destroy judgments after the lapse of twenty years."

In this case, the Washington judgments against Juan Heflin are approximately four years old and far from presumed paid or satisfied. (CP 12-13)

If the claim or judgment had not been perfected, the claims are tolled per Indiana law because Juan Heflin has not been a resident of Indiana. In accordance with IC 34-11-4-1 *Tolling of time while nonresident*:

The time during which the defendant is a nonresident of the state is not computed in any of the periods of limitation except during such time as the defendant by law maintains in Indiana an agent for service of process or other person who, under the laws of Indiana, may be served with process as agent for the defendant.

In his appeal, Juan Heflin acknowledges IC 34-11-4-1, but makes the unsupported claim that Washington law should control the tolling of the Indiana statute of limitations. The fact that Washington law may be more favorable to Juan Heflin on the issue of the tolling of any statute of limitations does not make Washington law applicable to cause of action arising from an Indiana case.

Juan Heflin argues that the statute of limitations is not an issue, and goes on to argue the statue of limitations. Juan Heflin states that the Indiana Statute of limitations and the Washington statute of limitations are the same. This is not true as set forth in *Steward*, supra, and IC 34-11-2-12. Juan Heflin misquotes the law of Indiana and ignores the validity of the Indiana Order of child support and the duration for enforcement of any judgments in Washington per the Indiana statute of limitations.

D. Issues Not Properly Before this Court on Appeal.

RAP 4.1(a) allows for the review of a trial Court decision. Excepting the claim that RCW 4.56.210 and RCW 6.17.020 bar enforcement of the judgment and issuance of a Wage Withholding Order, the other claims and issues raised by Juan Heflin and his attorney in this Appeal are not properly before this Court.

Stephanie Bell will address some of the far ranging, untimely and settled issues out of an abundance of caution.

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